ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

No. 71,755

JACOB JOHN DOUGAN,

Appellant,

- v -

OCT 18 1988

Deputy Clerk_

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court for the Fourth Judicial Circuit In and For Duval County

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

JAMES E. FERGUSON, II
Ferguson, Stein, Watt, Wallas
& Adkins, P.A.
Suite 730, East Independence Plaza
700 East Stonewall Street
Charlotte, North Carolina 28202
(704) 375-8461

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Introduction</u>

Jacob Dougan is a black man who was sentenced to death on December 4, 1987 following a new sentencing proceeding ordered by this Court. The evidence demonstrates that proceedings resulting in his death sentence were infected with racial bias from beginning to end and that death is a disproportionate sentence for him. He was convicted of the June 17, 1974 murder of a white youth in a racially motivated incident.

Mr. Dougan was born and reared in the Jacksonville, Florida of the 1940's, 50's and 60's where oppression and violence by whites towards blacks was common place, where racial hostility was the order of the day and where Jacksonville, like most American cities, practiced racial apartheid in virtually every aspect of life. Segregation was sanctioned by law, secured by law enforcement and solidified by social behavior.

In spite of the oppressed condition, Jacob Dougan overcame many of the burdens of racism and rose to a position of leadership in his community. He set a shining example for the young people of the community and became a symbol of pride for his peers and his elders.

As the leader of Jacksonville's black community, he established and worked with dozens of programs designed to improve the lives of black people and white people living in the poor, dispirited neighborhoods on the east side of Jacksonville. Before June 17, 1974, he was never involved in any criminal

activity. Indeed, his overriding goal for years was to lead his community out of an era of crime-ridden, exploited, ghettoization and into a new era of strength, social productivity, self-respect and mutual respect within the community at large. Jacob Dougan was loved, even revered, in his community for the good that he did. Despite his conviction and thirteen years of incarceration on death row, the evidence presented at Mr. Dougan's recent sentencing trial revealed that the feeling in the community about him has not changed.

Though fully aware that Jacob Dougan, during a brief period in 1974 had succumbed to an episode of misguided fervor and committed an unacceptable act of violence upon an unsuspecting white youth, a large number of community leaders urged the trial judge to impose a life sentence upon Mr. Dougan. They recognized that his life was committed to improving the lives of black people and throwing off the centuries old yoke of social oppression, notwithstanding the tragic aberration of June 17, 1974.

Ironically, the same racism that Mr. Dougan dedicated his life to fighting found its way into his trial on three salient fronts: (1) In the selection of the jury that resentenced him to death, the prosecution excluded three jurors peremptorily because of their race and further excluded from the jury all but two of fifteen potential black jurors, leaving only elderly blacks to serve; (2) the prosecution appealed to the racial bias of the jury by saturating the jury with racially inflammatory evidence

and emphasizing such evidence during his closing arguments; and (3) The trial judge, R. Hudson Olliff, failed to give proper guidance to the jury in its consideration of mitigating circumstances and failed in his own sentencing deliberations to give the kind of consideration to the mitigating circumstances that the Constitution requires. Finally, Judge Olliff permitted the jury to apply the aggravating circumstances without any material guidance, allowing racial passion and unconstrained discretion to weigh in on the side of death.

B. <u>Course of Prior Proceedings</u>

On March 5, 1975 Mr. Dougan was convicted of first degree murder for the death of Stephen Orlando and was sentenced to death on April 10, 1975. R. 1078. In a joint appeal with his codefendant Elwood Barclay, his conviction and sentence were affirmed. Barclay v. State, 343 So.2d 1266 (Fla. 1977), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 892 (1978). Thereafter, this Court remanded both cases for a hearing pursuant to Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 349 (1977). Barclay v. State, 362 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1978). A sentence of death was reimposed, and this Court again affirmed it on appeal. Dougan v. State, 398 So.2d 439 (Fla.), cert denied, 454 U.S. 882 (1981). On an original habeas corpus petition thereafter, the Court granted Mr. Dougan a new direct appeal on

¹References to the trial court record will be as follows: "R" will refer to the seven volumes of pleadings and orders, sequentially numbered from pages 1-1199, comprising the transcript of record; "T" will refer to the thirty volumes of transcript, sequentially numbered from pages 1-1951, comprising the transcribed notes of pretrial and trial proceedings.

the basis of appellate counsel's ineffective assistance and conflict of interest in representing both Mr. Dougan and Mr. Barclay in the original appeal. <u>Dougan v. Wainwright</u>, 448 So.2d 1005 (Fla. 1984). In the new appeal, the Court affirmed Mr. Dougan's conviction but vacated his death sentence and remanded for a new sentencing hearing before a new jury. <u>Dougan v. State</u>, 470 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1985).

On September 23, 1987, at the conclusion of the new sentencing trial, the jury recommended 9-3 that Mr. Dougan be sentenced to death. R. 681. On December 4, 1987, the trial court entered its findings of fact and sentenced Mr. Dougan to death. R. 1075-1171.

C. <u>Material Facts</u>

The racial climate in which Mr. Dougan was sentenced to death

As we will argue later in the brief, racial bias played a role in Mr. Dougan's resentencing proceeding. For the Court to appreciate this, it must be aware of the material facts concerning race relations and criminal justice in Jacksonville.

Historically, in Jacksonville as in many other cities, black people were segregated and oppressed on account of their race. On the east side of Jacksonville in the 1950's and 1960's, where many black people lived, 70% of the housing was substandard. T. 1234. Residential areas were completely segregated. T. 1236. The schools were segregated, and black schools were provided only with the equipment and textbooks no longer deemed fit for use in

the white schools. T. 1235, 1330, 1355. Black children were bused when necessary to assure complete segregation of the schools. T. 1331. Most public facilities -- buses, restaurants, movies, swimming pools, and parks -- were also completely segregated. T. 1235, 1330-31, 1338. Segregation was enforced by state law, by the police, and by social behavior. T. 1236, 1237, 1357. Black people "had to stay in our place ... had to stay on our streets ... [for] if we ventured off, we would have to fight for our lives to get back." T. 1356.

While the police force was integrated in the 1950's and 1960's, T. 1245, the authority and duties of police officers — and significantly, tolerance for their misconduct — was defined along clear racial lines. Black officers could function only in the black community and could exercise authority only over black people. T. 1245. If a white person caused trouble or committed criminal offenses in the black community, black officers could not arrest that person. They were permitted only to call white police officers for help. <u>Id</u>. In contrast, white officers were permitted to exercise authority — even unlawfully — over black people. They would "often beat[] or put [black people] in jail just [for] being seen on the street or walking thought the [part of the] community that we were not suppose[d] to be in." T. 1357.

In the 1960's, the civil rights movement and federal civil rights litigation and legislation began to create change. T. 1238-44. Although civil rights activists who engaged in peaceful

demonstrations were sometimes attacked by whites, <u>see</u> T. 1238, and school desegregation was slow, T. 1243, gradually the public vestiges of segregation were dismantled.

Progress was, however, quite uneven. For example in 1968, when Jacksonville and Duval County merged, black people were given assurances of equal participation in the new government and were promised that the new government would improve city services in black residential areas. T. 1240-42. Within a year or two, however, these assurances were seen as hollow. T. 1242. Most of the black members of the community relations commission had resigned because they felt the municipal government was ineffectual in addressing the needs and concerns of the black community. Id.

Race bias also continued to haunt the criminal justice system in this period of time. Police harassment of black people continued to go virtually unchecked. For example, in June, 1971, white police officers shot and killed Donnie Hall, a fifteen-year-old black child. The incident sparked several days of racial turmoil, see R. 107-119, but the police officer responsible for the shooting was never prosecuted. T. 1243; R. 883.² Incidents like these led to the filing of a federal civil

²Mr. Dougan and five others were arrested for picketing outside the county courthouse during the grand jury's investigation of this incident. See R. 112. The six were charged with contempt for violating a circuit judge's order to disperse so as not to put "[petit] jurors ... under the pressure of walking through a picket line no matter how laudable the purposes of that line might have been." R. 1008. Mr. Dougan was found guilty of contempt. R. 1009.

rights action by the local NAACP chapter against the police in March, 1974, R. 1060, and to an investigation by the United States Civil Rights Commission, which found that race discrimination permeated the sheriff's department and that a number of white officers engaged in racially-based harassment of black citizens. T. 1244; R. 890-960.

Race bias has periodically continued to punctuate prosecutorial decisions and jury decisions in cases involving racially-motivated homicides. On May 17, 1974, for example, just one month before the murder of Stephen Orlando, James Scarborough, a white youth, was allowed to plead guilty to second degree murder after having been indicted for the first degree murder of a black man named Jerry Penamon. R. 1022-24. According to an interview with Scarborough's defense lawyer, Scarborough and four others were in a car driven by Scarborough when the following incident occurred:

They saw an old black man who was hitchhiking, and someone said something like: "let's get him; let's get us a nigger." Scarborough said that he would, and he attempted to hit the hitchhiker but missed. The hitchhiker crossed over to the other side of the road, and Scarborough turned the car around, stating something like, "I'll get him this time. I'm gonna kill me a nigger." The hitchhiker was killed on impact.

Appendix B, attached hereto.³

³This interview was conducted in the course of data collection for a study reported by Professors Radelet and Pierce. See Radelet and Pierce, Race and Prosecutorial Discretion in Homicide Cases, 19 Law and Soc. Rev. 587 (1985) (finding that in twenty-one Florida counties, including Duval county, race of the defendant and the victim play a statistically significant role in charging decisions). The interview was filed with this Court in

In yet another case, tried within the month <u>after Mr.</u> Dougan's recent sentencing trial, a jury recommended imposition of a life sentence. John D. Freeman, a white man, was convicted of killing one black man and was charged with killing another black man -- where "race hatred" was the alleged motive for both killings. R. 886. On October 30, 1987, notwithstanding the fundamental similarity between the State's theory in Mr. Freeman's case and Mr. Dougan's case, the jury recommended a life sentence for Mr. Freeman. Id.⁴

Thus, while the Jacksonville in September of 1987 was different in some respects from the Jacksonville of the 1950's, 1960's and early 1970's -- in that significant steps had been taken to eliminate racism from the community's public institutions and facilities and neighborhoods -- much was still the same. Racism directed against black people, which produces a devaluation of the lives of black people in relation to white people, was still in place and an operative factor in every day life.

connection with Elwood Barclay's appeal, reported as <u>Barclay v. State</u>, 470 So.2d 691 (Fla. 1985). <u>See</u> Appendix to Brief of Appellant, No. 64,675, at G 7.

⁴Counsel has subsequently learned that the trial judge overrode the jury's recommendation and imposed a sentence of death in Mr. Freeman's case. As soon as counsel can gain access to the record on appeal in Freeman's case, he will provide supplemental information to the Court. In any event, the jury's recommendation suggests that racial considerations are still operative in the community of Jacksonville.

2. The character and history of Jacob Dougan

Jacob Dougan was born on July 11, 1947 to a white mother and black father. T. 1311. When he was almost seven months old, his mother placed him in an orphanage. T. 1320. She had just remarried her former husband, who was white, and he would not accept Jacob as a part of the family. T. 1314-15. For nearly two years, Jacob lived in the institutional setting of the orphanage, far longer than most other children. T. 1320-21. At the age of 2 1/2, he was placed in the Dougans' home and was eventually adopted by them. T. 1315-16.

Mr. and Mrs. Dougan were black and lived in a racially-segregated neighborhood on the east side of Jacksonville. Mr. Dougan owned and operated a radio and television repair shop during the time that Jacob was growing up. T. 1536. He worked hard and his family prospered because of it. Jacob often worked with him and in the course of it. learned from him

that the more you had, the more material things you had, the more responsibility you had. And the more responsible you were to your community, to share ... what you had and to help them, to help your environment to be better.

T. 1536. This ethic was practiced day-in and day-out in the Dougan household, and the Dougans were known for their compassion and generosity. T. 1537.

Although the Dougans were relatively better off than most of their neighbors, growing up was nevertheless not an easy process for Jacob. In addition to the burdens imposed by racism, he suffered severely from asthma, T. 1406, and was perceived as

frail and weak, T. 1340, 1394. He was embarrassed by his condition and felt isolated as a result of it. T. 1530-31. In addition, Mrs. Dougan became a chronic alcoholic and eventually died from alcohol-related disease. T. 1538-39. Jacob anguished over his mother's drinking, not knowing that she suffered a serious illness. As he explained, "I always thought that [there] was something I could do to have stopped her from doing it. I mean, I can remember finding her liquor bottles hidden under the pillows, under the mattress, and I would pour them out thinking that, you know, if I pour this bottle out, she will stop." T. 1538-39.

As a result of the vulnerabilities created by his asthma and his small size, T. 1269-70, and the pain associated with his mother's alcoholism, Jacob did not give up, but instead developed a pattern of overcompensating, of trying harder and working harder than most of his peers. As Dr. Harry Krop, a psychologist who testified for the defense explained, "[I]t's tough enough for a kid growing up in adolescen[ce] ... in terms of proving himself but when you have these two strikes against you, you sort of need to submit to that or try and overcompensate. And Jacob extended himself to overcompensate. By that I mean he would try harder than the other kids, he would get involved in [an activity] and he would essentially do better than the other kids. He would practice harder, he would work out more" T. 1270.5

⁵Mr. Dougan's need to overcompensate stemmed from yet another source. His mixed parentage shaped his life within months after his birth: his white mother abandoned him because he

For these reasons, Jacob did very well in school and extracurricular activities. He achieved the rank of Eagle Scout and was one of the best scouts ever in his troop. T. 1344-45. He was a very good student, T. 1354, was "studious and highly competitive," T. 1406, was well-disciplined, <u>id</u>., and could always be counted on to carry out his responsibilities, T. 1354. Further, he emerged as a student leader because he was helpful to other students and got along well with everyone. T. 1400, 1406.

During high school as well Jacob began to participate in the civil rights movement. He joined the NAACP youth council and became involved in "activities ... trying to integrate or [de]segregate lunch counters and public facilities there in Jacksonville like sitting in Morrison's, trying to be served and being refused. And marching in peaceful demonstrations." T. 1542. See also T. 1407.

In 1968, following graduation from high school and two years of service in the Air Force, Jacob Dougan returned home eager to resume his civil rights activities and to fulfill his responsibility to make his community a better place to be. T. 1542-43. While working with his father in the radio and

was half black, T. 1314-15, he spent an unusually long time in an orphanage because neither blacks nor whites would claim him, T. 1322, 1529-30, and, later in life, he was teased and isolated because his skin was too light, T. 1529-30. His early confusion over his racial identity, as well as the difficulties he later suffered, grew not only because he was both black and white, but at least equally because he neither belonged to nor identified with either race. T. 1529-30. As a result, once Jacob Dougan decided he was black, he felt compelled to prove he was truly black. It was then not enough for him simply to be black, he instead had to be more black or better black.

television repair shop, he became involved in the Ionia Street Service Center along with other concerned people in the community. T. 1543. Elected to the board of this center, Jacob helped write a successful grant proposal that led to the construction of the Robert F. Kennedy Center in order to "have a place to house the many programs that w[ere] needed for the community." T. 1543. Over the next six years, sometimes as a board member and sometimes as a paid staff member of the Kennedy Center, Jacob Dougan played a critical role in starting and sustaining an extraordinary number of programs designed to better the lives of the people in his community -- most of which exist to this day -- including:

- -- the Youth Congress -- which was designed to encourage black youth to stay in school, to reject the use of drugs and alcohol, and to spend their time constructively, T. 1364, 1508, 1546;
- -- the sickle cell anemia screening program, the volunteer professional staff for which was recruited by Mr. Dougan, T. 1365, 1367, 1415, 1441, 1474;
- -- a free health clinic, the volunteer staff for which was also recruited by Mr. Dougan, T. 1368, 1413-18;
- -- a housing rehabilitation program, which served poor neighborhoods, black and white, T. 1365-66;
 - -- a legal aid program, T. 1418-19;
- -- an organization which resisted the demolition of housing under the Urban Renewal program unless alternative

housing was made available and which eventually began to have a voice in Urban Renewal planning and decisions, T. 1425-26;

- -- Meals on Wheels, which in Mr. Dougan's community sought to provide better nutrition for older people in an effort to ameliorate the illnesses caused by poor nutrition, T. 1431-32, 1475, 1545;
- -- Walnut House, which helped ex-offenders find employment and housing, T. 1440, 1475;
 - -- a welfare rights organization, T. 1507; and
- -- a karate program for youth, started in the highest crime area on Jacksonville's east side, T. 1553-54, which was designed to teach self-confidence, good health, abstinence from drugs, and commitment to education and growth, T. 1476, 1496, 1509.

During this period of time, which lasted until his arrest in September of 1974, Mr. Dougan occasionally worked with his father, but was employed primarily as a community organizer and youth counselor for various organizations. He worked at St. John's House, a halfway house for delinquent youth, where he was greatly respected for his work with the black and white children who resided there. T. 1518, 1547-49. He worked as a staff member at the Kennedy Center, where his skills as a community organizer helped dissolve the fears of white people living in the Center's service area and opened up the Center's programs to them. T. 1477. And he worked as the director of the "street academy," an educational program focused on street kids and

school dropouts, for the Afro-American Cultural Center. T. 1554-55.

Jacob Dougan did all of these things through his extraordinary strength of character, which was manifested in numerous ways:

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