#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JACOB JOHN DOUGAN

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPRIME COURT

CASE NO. 71,755 Deputy Clerk

Appellee.

#### APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GARY L. PRINTY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 363014

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

ISSUE VII: Defense counsel properly raised the issue of pre-trial publicity during voir dire of the jury and those jurors with information regarding the case were removed from the jury. Dougan cannot demonstrate that any juror who sat on this case was so infected with prejudicial knowledge of the case that he did not receive a fair trial.

ISSUE VIII: There is no violation of the <u>ex post facto</u> clause by the retrospective application of the code calculated aggravating circumstance. This Court has previously rejected this claim.

ISSUE IX: The jury's sense of responsibility for their sentencing recommendation was not diminished by references to Mr. Dougan's prior trial.

ISSUE X: There is no order granting or denying a motion to suppress on appeal in this case. Dougan is barred from advancing this issue.

ISSUE XI: The parties agreed pre-trial that the jury would be instructed that the court would give considerable "great weight" to their recommended sentence. The failure to give this instruction was not made known to the court by

form of a proper timely objection and this claim may not be raised on appeal. In any event, this Court has consistently rejected this claim in every single case.

ISSUE XII: This Court has no authority to supervise the discretion of the prosecutor in seeking to impose a death sentence for Mr. Dougan.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE I

THE STATE ATTORNEY DID NOT DENY MR. DOUGAN EQUAL PROTECTION BY PEREMPTORILY EXCUSING PROSPECTIVE BLACK JURORS ON ACCOUNT OF THEIR RACE.

Dougan argues that the peremptory challenges used to exclude four black jurors violated the principles of Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) and State v. Neil, 457 So.2d The prosecutor's stated reasons for the 481 (Fla. 1984). exercise of his peremptory challenges meets the very strict standard of this Court as enunciated in State v. Slappy, 522 1988), So.2d 18 (Fla. and Mr. Dougan is unable demonstrate that the State improperly excused any jurors for nonracially neutral reasons.

The first juror excused was Errol Covan, who stated on the State's voir dire that he could not vote to impose death. (T 264). Covan suggested to Mr. Link, the defense counsel for Dougan, that he could vote to impose death. The State exercised a peremptory challenge because it was the prosecutor's judgment that unequivocal opposition to the death penalty on one day and sudden change of heart was simply incredible. (T 470-471).

Ms. Gilbert, the prospective juror who was not challenged for her similar equivocation, happens to be a

black juror who sat on the jury. Likewise, Ms. Lester said she could not vote to impose death (T 268), but then changed her mind in response to defense counsel's questioning. (T 269). However, later questioning by the prosecutor revealed that Ms. Lester had a son who had been treated by a mental health expert. Ms. Lester stated she attaches great value to the opinion of this mental health expert. (T 374). State was therefore exercising a racially neutral reason in striking this juror given the fact that there would be such testimony presented by the defendant. Ms. Lester also admits that her husband had been in trouble. (T 336). The fact that the phrase "in trouble" raises more questions than it answers is due to the failure of defense counsel to adequately develop the record not the racist behavior of the prosecution.

The third, and final, juror whom the prosecutor allegedly discriminated against was Ms. Sloan. The reasons advanced by the prosecutor and quoted extensively in the brief of appellant at pages 34-35 adequately demonstrate racially neutral basis for exclusion. (T 600-601). There is nothing racist about properly excluding a juror who could not vote for death in any circumstance, who had to testify

The record does not reveal the race of Ms. Gilbert, however, the undersigned assistant attorney general has confirmed this fact by telephonic communication with the prosecutor, Stephen Kunz. Absent a system of video taping of voir dire and a Hitleresque racial classification system, this Court is going to have to rely on such facts in determining neo questions.

for her brother at trial, and who also works for HRS. Once again, if the record is inadequate as to Ms. Sloan it is the defense counsel's failure to further question her regarding what nature of judicial proceedings she testified in and whether her HRS employment demonstrated a liberal or antiprosecution attitude. However, the second and third reasons are only surplusage given her equivocation on whether she could vote to impose death.

The voir dire proceedings reveal the State's consistent goal was to obtain a jury that could vote to recommend death if the circumstances warranted it. There is no evidence that the State was seeking any other social or economic classification. However, the record is clear that defense counsel for Dougan blatantly sought to exclude jurors solely on the basis of race and admitted it. (T 603). defended his conduct by saying that only a white defendant could have challenged the exercise of peremptory challenges against white jurors. This is not the law of Florida under State v. Slappy. This Court, rightly or wrongly, has confused the requirements of Batson with the right of an individual juror to sit in a case. This Court should bear in mind it was defense counsel's exercise of peremptory challenges in the infamous McDuffie case which lead to the acquittal of police officers by an all-white jury which prompted the pressure for the Neil claim. The United States Supreme Court may resolve this issue in Alabama v. Cox, Case No. 88-630, if a pending petition for writ of certiorari is granted.

#### ISSUE II

THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT APPEAL TO RACIAL BIAS IN URGING THIS JURY TO RECOMMEND SENTENCING MR. DOUGAN TO DEATH.

The prosecutor's strategy in Mr. Dougan's case was designed to present evidence which accurately reflected the circumstances of the crime and proved the existence of statutory aggravating factors. It is ironic that Mr. Dougan can organize a racially motivated crime and then complain to this Court that race was a factor in the imposition of his death sentence. If the opponents of abortion kidnapped and murdered an eighteen year-old girl who had underwent an abortion and pinned a note to her body claiming that this is only the first such victim until the law recognizes the right of the unborn to live, this state would have just as much authority to seek the death sentence as This murder is no more excusable they did in this case. than that of Martin Luther King or John F. Kennedy or an anonymous store clerk. The facts in Robinson v. State, 520 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1988) have no bearing on this case at all. See Barclay v. Florida, 463 U.S. 939, 949 (1983).

#### ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT LIMIT THE JURY'S CONSIDERATION OF MITIGATING FACTORS AND THE JURY WAS ADEQUATELY INSTRUCTED REGARDING THEIR ABILITY TO RECOMMEND LIFE.

(A)

Mr. Dougan's sentencing proceeding was conducted after Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), Skipper v. South Carolina, 476 U.S. 1 (1978) and Hitchcock v. Dugger, 107 S.Ct. 1821 (1987).Mr. Dougan was represented experienced defense counsel. Mr. Dougan's complaint seems to be that the jury was instructed and the jury verdict form required them to act in a rational manner. The jury was asked to weigh the aggravating and mitigating factors and impose a sentence of death if the aggravating outweighed the mitigating factors and did not justify the imposition of a life sentence. Dougan's argument certainly turns the principles of Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 608 (Fla. 1975), on In Tedder, this Court held that the trial court may override a jury recommendation of life where it is not rationally based on the evidence presented in mitigation and aggravation. Thus, Dougan concedes an override would be the proper disposition in this case because the jury in essence would have been hoodwinked into recommending life. Arboledo v. State, 524 So.2d 403, 413 (Fla. 1988).

Dougan relies on <u>Franklin v. Lynaugh</u>, 101 L.Ed.2d 155 (1988) and <u>Mills v. Maryland</u>, 100 L.Ed.2d 384 (1988), in

support of his argument. However, in <u>Franklin</u> the Texas death penalty statute requires a unanimous verdict of the jury as does the Maryland death penalty statute in <u>Mills</u>. The record demonstrates that Dougan persuaded three of twelve jurors that life was the recommended sentence. Thus, the danger inherent in <u>Mills</u> that one juror might misconstrue the law and vote for death when he really meant to vote for life is unavailing in Florida. In any event, defense counsel agreed with the reinstruction given.

(B)

The jury was adequately instructed as to the definition of mitigating circumstances. Dougan admits that the jury Florida standard jury instruction given the was mitigating circumstances. The jury also heard testimony from an unlimited amount of witnesses regarding Dougan's good character and prison record and still voted to recommend death. The jury was basically saying that Mother Theresa would get the death penalty for organizing a plan to go out and kidnap an innocent man, torture him and then The rationale for the shoot him twice in the head. imposition of the death sentence in this case was adequately set forth in Justice Adkins' dissenting opinion in the Dougan case. Dougan v. State, 470 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1985).

Dougan was not entitled to the statutory mitigating circumstance, no significant history of prior criminal activity where there had been another murder which had been nolle prosequi by the State. Dougan's argument is, once again, he should be allowed to present to the jury with a shell game regarding his criminal history. The fact that Dougan committed another murder sheds great light upon his character and would not be an improper matter for the jury to consider when weighing the aggravating and mitigating The real issue here is whether or not this jury factors. improperly considered matters in determining whether Dougan belongs to that limited class of killers for whom the death penalty is the appropriate punishment. The non-fact that the jury did not hear cannot be said to have resulted in an This Court's opinion in Dougan, improper death sentence. supra, was not a license to commit a fraud upon the jury.

#### ISSUE IV

THE INSTRUCTIONS ON THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES ADEQUATELY CHANNELED THE DISCRETION OF THE JURY IN DETERMINING THE PROPER PUNISHMENT.

(A)

In Maynard v. Cartwright, 100 L.Ed.2d 372 (1988), the United States Supreme Court set aside an Oklahoma death sentence because the appellate court in that state had allowed an over-expansive use of the term "cruel, heinous and atrocious" as an aggravating factor in capital cases. The Supreme Court was reaffirming the law previously announced in Godfrey v. Georgia, 446 U.S. 420 (1980). This Court's definition of heinous, atrocious and cruel, set forth in State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), sufficiently defines this aggravating factor. See also Barclay v. Florida, 463 U.S. at 947.

In this particular case the trial court originally gave the Florida standard jury instructions without objection by either party which do not give the full definition set forward in <a href="Dixon">Dixon</a>. Upon request by the jury the court further instructed the jury using the language from <a href="Dixon">Dixon</a>. (T 1770-71). The United States Supreme Court also cited in <a href="Maynard">Maynard</a> the Florida Supreme Court's instruction of this aggravating factor. Even if there were some error in this case defense counsel did not request a different instruction or object to the instruction given. In fact, defense

counsel invited the instructions given and Dougan should not be heard to complain on appeal.

(B)

Cold, calculated and premeditated without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

The State will agree to be bound by this Court's standard as set forth in Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526, 533 (Fla. 1987). The killing of an innocent hitchhiker in no way is morally or legally justified under any circumstance. This is not a murder plan to kidnap and kill an avowed segregationist or white power group. Dougan's role as the cold, calculated planner of this murder is set forth in the testimony of co-defendant William Hearn. (T 900-954).

(C)

#### Murder in the course of kidnapping.

Dougan claims that there was no forcible constraint until the car arrived on the dirt road and Mr. Dougan said, "This is it, sucker." (T 922). However, the Medical Examiner's testimony described bruises from the pressure of the hand grip applied to Orlando which established "forcible constraint". (T 853). Under Mr. Dougan's argument, a defendant who entices a little girl into his car with a piece of candy, takes her out to an abandoned road, stabs her repeatedly with a knife and then shoots her in the head

never kidnapped her. There is no error in the kidnapping instruction here or in the court's finding of this aggravating factor. Barclay v. Florida, 463 U.S. at 947.

#### ISSUE V

JUDGE OLLIFF DID NOT ERR IN HIS CONSIDERATION OF AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES ESTABLISHED IN THE RECORD.

The State takes exception to Dougan's claim that the murder of Stephen Orlando was morally and legally justified under any circumstance.

A. The judge's failure to consider the mitigating circumstances presented.

The record below establishes that Dougan was not precluded from presenting any evidence in mitigation. The jury verdict demonstrates that the jury considered the mitigating circumstances and found they did not outweigh the aggravating circumstances. In <u>Porter v. State</u>, 429 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1983), this Court held:

There is no requirement that a court must find anything in mitigation. The only requirement is that the consideration of mitigating circumstances must not be limited to those listed in §921.141(6), Florida Statutes What Porter really complains (1981).about here is the weight of the trial evidence Porter court accorded the presented in mitigation. However, mere disagreement with the force to be given [mitigating evidence] is an insufficient for challenging а sentence. basis State, Quince v. 414 So.2d 185, (Fla. 1982). [footnote omitted]

Id. at 296.

It is within the provice of the trial judge to decide whether a particular mitigating circumstance has been proven and the weight to be given that factor. <u>Toole v. State</u>, 479 So.2d 131 (Fla. 1985), <u>Smith v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 894, 901 (Fla. 1981). Reversal is not warranted simply because Dougan would draw a different conclusion. <u>Stano v. State</u>, 467 So.2d 890, 894 (Fla. 1984). This is especially so given the fact that the jury heard the same evidence and recommended death.

# B. <u>The judge's consideration of aggravating</u> circumstances is supported by the evidence.

Dougan argues that the three aggravating circumstances found by the trial court were not supported by the evidence. In other words, there was no evidence that (1) the murder was especially wicked, evil, atrocious or cruel, (2) the murder committed in а cold, calculated was not premeditated murder without any pretense of moral or legal justification and (3) the murder was not committed while Mr. Dougan was engaged in the commission of the crime of kidnapping.

#### (1) Especially heinous, atrocious or cruel

Mr. Dougan argues also that he cannot be held accountable for the multiple stabbings of the victim for only Mr. Barclay committed these acts. (T 923). This Court has already held that Mr. Dougan was the mastermind behind

this operation and all acts of the agents are attributable to the principal and Dougan is the killer. The record reveals that young Mr. Orlando suffered sufficiently to satisfy the atrocious and cruel standard of <u>Godfrey v. Georgia</u>, <u>supra</u>. This Court has previously upheld this finding as supported by the record. <u>Barclay v. State</u>, 470 So.2d 691 (Fla. 1985). See <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 1109, 1115 (Fla. 1984), and <u>Parker v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 134, 139 (Fla. 1985).

#### (2) Cold, calculated and premeditated

The trial court's order adequately sets forth facts upon which this aggravating circumstance can be based. This aggravating circumstance has been established under the test of Rogers v. State, supra.

#### (3) Murder in the course of kidnapping

The whole purpose of taking Mr. Orlando for his brief ride was his subsequent execution. Therefore, he was transported for the purpose of murdering him which remains a felony in this state. The evidence supports this aggravating circumstance. This Court has previously approved this aggravating factor in <u>Barclay v. State</u>, 470 So.2d 691, 694 (Fla. 1985) and these are law of the case.

#### ISSUE VI

DEATH IS THE ONLY POSSIBLE SENTENCE FOR MR. DOUGAN.

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